FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/30/2022 11:40 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/5/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100791-4 No. 82225-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN WESLEY EBBELER and ELIZABETH ASHLEY EBBELER, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

SIDNEY S. ANDREWS, Personal Representative of the Estate of Allison S. Andrews; ESTATE OF ALLISON S. ANDREWS,

Respondents.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioners Ebbeler

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION

The Ebbelers ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, decision terminating review designated in Part B. This case presents significant issues for this Court on the concurrent obligations of real estate purchasers and sellers under standard real estate purchase and sale agreements ("REPSA") at closing, and the circumstances under which a party's conduct at closing may thwart the other side's performance of closing-related obligations.

The Ebblers did everything any buyer in a financed real estate transaction must do to fulfill their duties on or before the closing date. They received approval for the requisite loan amount, they completed all lender-requested documents prior to the closing date, and they deposited into escrow all required cash for the balance of the purchase price. It was only the Estate's action and inaction that prevented closing on the closing date, as will be noted *infra*. Nonetheless, Division I held that it was the Ebbelers, not the Estate, that breached the

REPSA, and that the Estate was not only entitled to escape the deal, but to keep the Ebbelers' \$65,000 in earnest money, and receive hundreds of thousands of dollars in attorney fees in the process.

In reaching this unjust and erroneous result, Division I has left buyers who must obtain financing to purchase homes in Washington and who use the standard Northwest Multiple Listing Service forms in a dangerous precarious position. If Division I's opinion is allowed to stand it will provide a vehicle for sellers in lender-financed home purchases to prevent buyers from funding their loans simply by delaying the signing of critical documents on the day of closing until it is too late to transfer funds and record the conveyance documents. Division I's opinion has tilted the balance in favor of sellers, leaving buyers at their mercy in a market already favoring sellers. Such an imbalance in the relationship of real estate purchasers and sellers is bad public policy, meriting this Court's review.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its opinion on February 28, 2022. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix. That court denied the Ebbelers' timely motion for reconsideration on March 9, 2022. A copy of that order is in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err in determining that the buyer breached the parties' REPSA where that agreement and the escrow instructions made clear that the parties' performance at closing was concurrent and the seller failed to perform?
- 2. Did the seller's conduct, including instruction to the escrow to withhold documents from the lender necessary to loan funding, waiting to execute the deed until after the Federal Reserve wire cutoff and after the King County recording office closed, or its insistence upon the buyer paying to connect the house to the sanitary sewer when it was a seller obligation, frustrate the buyers' ability to post funds to close?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The recitation of the facts and procedures in Division I's opinion is largely correct. Op. at 1-8. Certain factual points, however, bear emphasis.

First, the opinion omits reference to the fact that Sidney Andrews was a seasoned real estate professional, CP 2268 (FF 9), who was well aware of how to manipulate real estate transactions to his advantage. RP 241-43; CP 2238.

Second, the opinion understates Sidney's cavalier, tardy appearance at the escrow's office late on May 29 that made the Estate's performance of its closing obligations *impossible*. Sidney simply refused to show up at WFG National Title Insurance ("WFG"), the escrow settlement agent, until the last minute, despite entreaties from WFG staff for a week before closing to do so. CP 2112, 2136. Ultimately, he signed the deed only *after* King County's recording office had closed and he signed key documents *after* the Federal Reserve deadline for wire transfers had passed, making it impossible for the Ebbelers' lender, Washington Federal ("WaFd"), to transfer the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> WFG emailed Sidney at 5:56 p.m. on May 28, telling him that he needed to be at its offices no later than 11 a.m. on May 29. He was also told that WaFd needed to see an executed form of the deed. CP 2160. Sidney ignored all of these directions.

loan proceeds to WFG at closing.

Also ignored in Division I's analysis is the fact that in addition to failing to appear at WFG's offices on a timely basis to close, Sidney and the Estate's attorney Lisa Peterson specifically directed WFG not to close without their express approval. Dani Leggett testified that escrows respect such a direction from a seller and would not close without receiving the seller's approval. CP 2079. WFG's Autumn Bray agreed. CP 1910-11. Such approval was never given, CP 2024, again breaching the Estate's concurrent obligation to close.

Third, the opinion does not mention that Sidney never intended to close. When advised that the Highlands Sewer District ("District") intended to raise the amount held back on closing to address the connection of the property to the sanitary sewer, br. of appellants at 15, and after he lined up a competing offer to the Ebbelers' that agreed to assume the sewer connection costs, ex. 240; RP 228, Sidney specifically told his real estate agent, Evan Wyman, only days before the closing:

"No worries, the next buyer will have a different title/escrow anyway, *cuz I don't plan on this closing*...keep the O'Briens warm at \$2.225, cuz that's where I'm goin'..." (emphasis added). Ex. 77.

Fourth, the sewer connection fees were the crux of Sidney's efforts to subvert the parties' REPSA ("Agreement") and fully explain his bad faith in thwarting the Ebbelers' performance. That fact was largely ignored in Division I's opinion. The Agreement and the District's rules made those charges the Estate's obligation, ex. 3 at 4, as Wyman, RP 659-61, and Sidney himself *admitted*. Ex. 35; RP 134.

The District even required the Estate to temporarily connect the house to the sewer before the deal would be approved by the District, exs. 23 at 2, 26 at 2, a fact conveniently forgotten by the Estate. Ex. 62. Despite acknowledging in its opinion at 2 that a sewer connection was mandatory before any sale, Division I's subsequent assertion that the District's general holdback amount was sufficient to

defray the obligation to provide for the temporary connection is not supported by the record. (op. at 17-19). Its claim that there was no contractual duty to provide a temporary sewer connection, or that there was "no evidence" that the District required such a connection (op. at 18) is belied by exhibits 23 and 26. The temporary connection itself had to occur *before* the sale could be approved by the District under the District's rules. The District's compliance certificate mandated a connection. Ex. 28. It is undisputed that as of May 29, 2019, the day of closing, no temporary sewer connection had been installed.

Despite admitting in his April 13, 2019 email to his real estate agents that the connection was the Estate's obligation, (Ex. 35), Sidney repeatedly sought to foist this obligation on the Ebbelers beginning in late April, once he had the competing offer that assumed the obligation to pay sewer connection fees. CP 2271 (FF 21). Sidney's efforts were a renegotiation of the Agreement. RP 660-61. Sidney only agreed that the sewer connection fee was an Estate obligation *on May 29*, the day of

the closing. Ex. 240; RP 313-14.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is merited in this case because the Division I decision conflicts with this Court's precedents on concurrent performance of real estate buyers and sellers at closing, (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), and authority on the thwarting of the other contracting party's performance in violation of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in Washington (RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)). Division I's decision will have a profound impact on real estate closings statewide (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

(1) <u>Division I Failed to Apply Washington Law on</u>
<u>Real Estate Purchaser and Seller Concurrent</u>
Obligations at Closing

Washington law has long recognized that parties to a real estate purchase and sale agreement have a concurrent obligation to perform their requisite obligations in closing the transaction. *Bendon v. Parfit*, 74 Wash. 645, 134 Pac. 185 (1913); *Jenson v. Richens*, 74 Wn.2d 41, 46, 442 P.2d 638 (1968); *Willener v.* 

Sweeting, 107 Wn.2d 388, 730 P.2d 45 (1986). Since 1913 the default principle in closings has been that payment of the purchase price and the delivery of the deed in a real property transaction are *concurrent acts*. *Bendon*, 74 Wash. at 648. Because payment of the purchase price and the delivery of the deed are typically concurrent conditions, a vendor "may not put the buyer in default until *the vendor* has offered to perform." *Wallace Real Estate Inv.*, *Inc. v. Groves*, 124 Wn.2d 881, 887, 881 P.2d 1010 (1994) (emphasis added).

In *Willener*, a case directly on point, this Court declined to enforce a real estate purchase and sale agreement where, at closing, the seller could not provide marketable title and the purchaser failed to post funds. The Court ordered the return of the earnest money to the purchaser. That is exactly what should have happened here.

The parties' Agreement and the escrow instructions manifested their intent that their obligations be concurrent. Exs. 3, 79. The Estate's own expert agreed that performance

duties were concurrent. RP 690, 702. The trial court so concluded, after noting that the parties' experts all agreed that was true. CP 2281-82 (FF 88-89). Conclusion of law number 6 states: "The duty to complete closing was concurrent." CP 2283. Nothing in either document indicated an intent that the Ebbelers' obligation to post funds to close the transaction was a condition precedent to the Estate's closing obligations.

The Estate claimed that the deposit of the full sale proceeds was a condition precedent to its performance. Ex. 125 at 4; resp'ts br. at 43-44. While finding that the parties' duties were concurrent, the trial court, nevertheless, reversed this agreed upon order of performance by finding that the sale proceeds had to be deposited by the Ebbelers *prior* to recording according to the closing instructions, CP 2281 (FF 85) ("It appears the Closing Agreement required that the Ebbelers deposit their funds first..."), ignoring the parties' *actual* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court's order on summary judgment also focused entirely on the funding obligation *of the Ebbelers* to the

agreement. In effect, the trial court made the Ebbelers' funding of the transaction a condition precedent to the Estate's performance, as the Estate requested, contrary to the Agreement's actual terms for timing of performance.

Washington law disfavors the implication of conditions precedent in contracts. *Fischler v. Nicklin*, 51 Wn.2d 518, 523, 319 P.2d 1098 (1958) (conditions precedent are disfavored by courts and refusing to imply such a condition). That rule is consistent with longstanding federal practice as well. *Lockwood v. Wolf Corp.*, 629 F.2d 603, 610 (9th Cir. 1980) (noting that courts are specifically "loathe" to imply such conditions when the alleged condition is within the control of the contracting parties). Division I's analysis fundamentally departs from the specific terms of the parties' Agreement. Op. at 14-15.

Emblematic of its misperception of this Court's decision

exclusion of any duties on the Estate's part to perform. CP 1225-26. This animated the trial court's later treatment of the issues at trial.

Petition for Review - 11

-

in Willener is Division I's excursion into a discussion of rescission of the Agreement, claiming that the Ebbelers never sought that remedy for the Estate's breach of the Agreement at trial. Op. at 9-11. With all due respect to the Court of Appeals, that is wrong. As Division I itself notes, op. at 7, the Ebbelers relinquished any claims of specific performance and damages at trial. They defended the claim of the Estate for the forfeiture of the earnest money, asking for its refund. Rescission was plainly the remedy they sought in the trial court where they specifically argued their entitlement to the return of their earnest money to the trial court in their trial brief, CP 1432, and in closing argument. RP 731, 736. The Ebbelers were not obligated to incant the word "rescission" to preserve the argument for review. Division I's analysis elevates form over substance.

But lost on Division I is the central thrust of concurrent performance as this Court articulated in *Wallace Real Estate*. To recover under the Agreement, *the Estate* had to prove its

ability to perform its end of the deal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Phillips v*. *Smith*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1066, 2020 WL 1644350 (2020) (in concurrent performance, party claiming breach must establish its own performance; lessor/seller in lease with option to purchase home case evidenced clear intent to repudiate agreement, excusing performance by lessees/purchasers). The Estate failed to meet this obligation.

The Ebbelers performed their end of the Agreement by paying the earnest money and down payment and having the WaFd loan ready to be funded. Even if the Ebbelers failed to perform (which they deny), the relevant issue here is that the Agreement is unenforceable because the Estate breached it by failing to perform the Estate's mandatory concurrent contractual obligations at closing.

While there are multiple reasons supporting the view that the Estate failed to perform its concurrent obligations under the Agreement such as its failure to provide the correct form of

deed to WFG (br. of appellants at 36-37; reply br. at 20-21),<sup>3</sup> or its failure to clear the lien of Sidney's mother (br. of appellants at 37-38; reply br. at 16-20),<sup>4</sup> the Estate's plainest breach of the Agreement was its failure to *record* the requisite deed for the property before closing. The term "closing" is defined in the Agreement as follows: "Closing' means the date on which all documents are *recorded* and the sale proceeds are available to

Jivision I's discussion of the form of the deed, op. at 11-12, is superficial. The Estate *insisted* upon a personal representative deed and blamed *the Ebbelers* for signing the unexecuted, unnotarized deed form presented to them at closing. Resp'ts br. at 3, 15. The trial court, too, blamed the Ebbelers. CP 2276-77 (FF 54-59). Nothing in the Agreement calls for the Ebbelers to approve or provide the deed. Had Sidney been diligent in interacting with WFG before his tardy arrival at its offices on May 29, he or his attorney Lisa Peterson could readily have remedied the flaws in the deed they wanted. Instead, WFG did not receive final approval from attorney Peterson for the deed until 7:19 p.m. on May 29. CP 2039.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Division I's treatment of the Trust lien is puzzling. Op. at 16-17. It does not explain how the \$4 million unpaid Trust line of credit for Alison Andrews, Sidney's mother, became a zero balance. Ex. 66.

Seller." Ex. 3 at 6 (emphasis added).<sup>5</sup> The Estate admitted in closing argument that the Agreement required recording. RP 734 ("It is the contract itself [that] says the closing is the tender and *recording* [of] the deed...") (emphasis added).

While Division I's opinion acknowledges that Sidney signed the requisite deed at 3:51 p.m., 21 minutes after King County's recording office closed, making recording *impossible* on May 29, op. at 13, it attempts to justify the Estate's inability to record the deed on the day of closing by blaming WFG for the Estate's failure to close on time. Op. at 13-14. The bottom line, however, is that the Estate failed to permit the recording of any deed before closing. The inescapable fact is that King County records office closed at 3:30 p.m., CP 1908-09, 1967, and that Sidney's belated appearance at WFG on May 29 and his tardy execution of the deed rendered its recording on that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court erroneously concluded that the Estate could meet its obligation by Sidney's signing of the deed, contrary to the express terms of the Agreement that required recording of the deed on May 29. CP 2284 (CL 11).

day an *impossibility*.

Simply put, by the time Sidney finally chose to appear at WFG's office at 2:17 p.m. on May 29, CP 2280 (FF 76), and sign the actual deed the Estate preferred at 3:51 p.m., CP 2280 (FF 81), it was too late to perform the Estate's obligation to record on May 29.. Moreover, as noted *supra*, Sidney and his attorney specifically instructed WFG not to close without their express approval. The Estate could not, and did not, perform the requisite recording of the deed as the Agreement required, breaching the Agreement.<sup>6</sup>

This is not just a garden-variety individual real estate case that this Court should ignore. Division I's decision has serious ramifications that impact Washington's real estate industry when there is a scarcity of housing and sellers have more leverage, meriting review by this Court. The opinion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> WaFd's May 30 email indicated that the reason the loan did not fund was not because of anything the Ebberlers did, but rather because Sidney failed to timely sign. CP 926 ("Has the seller signed or is there a problem with the transaction?"); ex. 122.

distorts this Court's longstanding precedent on concurrent obligations of purchasers and sellers at closing, in effect, giving courts free rein to imply conditions precedent to performance of REPSAs. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Moreover, because REPSAs often utilize standard language in NWMLS forms, this will allow courts *statewide* to imply such conditions despite this Court's concurrent obligation imperative. As noted *supra*, Division I's opinion creates a loophole for wily sellers bent on reneging on REPSAs, allowing them to delay closing, thereby preventing financing, and to then declare a default, retaining buyers' earnest money. In a sellers' market, as is true today, where buyers are compelled to waive protective contingencies such as inspection contingencies, that will grossly distort the relationship of buyers and sellers, and will give sellers a free "out" on the day of closing. Review is essential. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

## (2) <u>The Estate Breached the Agreement When It</u> Thwarted the Ebbelers' Performance

Review is also merited in this case because Division I's opinion fails to properly address the fact that the Estate thwarted the Ebbelers' performance of the agreement by making their final steps to obtain the loan proceeds from WaFd impossible. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

In Washington, the duties of parties to a real estate contract to perform their closing-related obligations are animated by an overarching duty of good faith and fair dealing that obligates the contractual parties to cooperate with each other so that each may obtain the full benefit of the contract. *Miller v. Othello Packers*, 67 Wn.2d 842, 844, 410 P.2d 33 (1966) ("There is an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in every contract, a covenant or implied obligation by each party to cooperate with the other so that he may obtain the full benefit of performance."); *Badgett v. Sec. State Bank*, 116 Wn.2d 563, 569, 807 P.2d 356 (1991). *Rekhter v. Dep't of Soc.* 

& Health Servs., 180 Wn.2d 102, 111-12, 323 P.3d 1036, 1041 (2014); Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation v. Pierce, 15 Wn. App. 2d 419, 475 P.3d 1011 (2020), review denied, 197 Wn.2d 1006 (2021) (Foundation breached implied good faith/fair dealing covenant by unilaterally changing duties of chief development officer, preventing CDO from performing duties).

Sidney and the Estate had a good faith duty to make the Ebbelers' performance of their contractual duties possible and not to thwart them. A contracting party may not hinder the other contracting party's performance. *Ward v. Coldwell Banker/San Juan Props.*, 74 Wn. App. 157, 168, 872 P.2d 69, *review denied*, 125 Wn.2d 1006 (1994) ("All contracts include an implied condition that a party will not interfere with another party's performance, but will cooperate in good faith."); *Cavell v. Hughes*, 29 Wn. App. 536, 629 P.2d 927 (1981). *See generally, Restatement (First) of Contracts* § 315.

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