FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2022 4:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100791-4 [Court of Appeals No. 82225-0-I]

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Matter of:

JONATHAN WESLEY AND ELIZABETH ASHLEY EBBELER,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

V.

SIDNEY S. ANDREWS, as personal representative of the Estate of Alison S. Andrews; and ESTATE OF ALISON S. ANDREWS,

Defendants/Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rhys M. Farren (WSBA #19398) DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 929 – 108th Ave. NE, Suite 1500 Bellevue, WA (425) 646-6131

Attorneys for Respondents, Sidney S. Andrews and Estate of Alison S. Andrews

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

VI. ARGUMENT

None of the four tests set forth in RAP 13.4 for supreme court review is met here. Accordingly, the petition should be denied. *See* RAP 13.4(b) (Supreme Court will accept petition for review "only" if specified criteria are met).

A. As a Threshold Matter, the Ebbelers Have Abandoned All of Their Claims, Leaving Nothing For This Court to Review.

The Ebbelers abandoned all of their claims at trial or on appeal and there is nothing left for this Court to review. The Ebbelers sought specific performance and damages. They abandoned their specific performance claim at trial. Slip. Op. at 3; CP 2284 (Order of the Court). Having abandoned their specific performance claim, the Ebbelers tried to pivot to a claim for damages at trial. Slip. Op. at 3; CP 1445. No evidence of damage was presented, and the Court did not award damages.

On appeal, the Ebbelers represented to Division I that "the Ebbelers are not seeking affirmative relief under the Agreement; they are no longer seeking specific performance or damages." Reply Br., at 12; Slip. Op. at 7.

Washington courts have held that "we do 'not consider issues apparently abandoned at trial and clearly abandoned' " on appeal. Seattle First–Nat'l Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.,

91 Wn.2d 230, 243, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978); *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 147 P.3d 641 (Div. 2 2006); *State v. Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90, 875 P.2d 613 (1994) (overruled on other grounds by, *State v. Catlett*, 133 Wn.2d 355, 945 P.2d 700 (1997)).

The Ebbelers failed to assign error to CL 13-14 of the trial court's findings of facts and conclusions of law awarding the \$65,000 earnest money to Andrews. CP 2284. Neither did they argue that they were entitled to the earnest money in their appellate brief.

A party abandons an issue by failing to pursue it on appeal by explicitly abandoning the claim or failing to brief the claim. *State v. Wood*, 89 Wn.2d 97, 99, 569 P.2d 1148 (1977); *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

Having abandoned all of their claims for relief, the Ebbelers' naked arguments of liability cannot stand alone. *See Jacob's Meadow Owners Ass'n v. Plateau 44 II, LLC*, 139 Wn.

App. 743, 754, 162 P.3d 1153 (2007). Even if Andrews breached the contract (which he did not), mere proof of breach without more is insufficient to support a claim. *Ketchum v. Albertson Bulb Gardens, Inc.*, 142 Wash. 134, 139, 252 P. 523 (1927). A party must establish damage.

As is demonstrated below, there are several reasons why the Ebbelers cannot prove that Mr. Andrews' breached the REPSA contract. However, the Court need not consider those arguments. The Ebbelers' Petition may be disposed of on the basis that there are no longer any viable claims for this Court to review.

B. Under the Law of Concurrent Obligations at Closing, the Ebbelers Lose.

The Ebbelers argue that Division I failed to apply the rule that the parties to a real estate purchase and sale agreement have a concurrent obligation to perform their duties. Petition, at 7-8. To the contrary, the appellate court found that because the parties' duties were concurrent, the Ebbelers could not hold Andrews in breach. The Ebbelers' case dies on the same

battleground on which they attack because they failed to prove their own performance.

There is no disagreement about the law on concurrent duties. Both parties cited *Willener v. Sweeting*, 107 Wn.2d 388, 730 P.2d 45 (1986). For the same reason, there is no conflict in that law requiring resolution by this Court under RAP 13.4. The Ebbelers simply disagree with the facts.

There are four reasons why the Ebbelers lose under the doctrine of concurrent performance. *First*, as a factual matter, the Estate *did* prove its ability to perform – and *indeed did perform. Second*, even though concurrent performance was due under the REPSA, the Ebbelers signed Closing Instructions on May 25, 2019 requiring them to deposit their purchase price first, effectively supplementing or modifying the common law duty of concurrent performance. The law on concurrent obligations applies to the extent the parties' obligations have not modified it, as the Ebbelers did in the Closing Instructions. They breached that provision. *Third*, the Ebbelers have <u>never</u>

proven that they either did perform or could have performed their concurrent duty on May 29, 2019. They cannot hold Andrews in breach unless and until they meet that critical element of their case. The fact that they never fully performed is fatal to their case. *Fourth*, all of this academic argument is ultimately moot because Andrews is the "prevailing party" under any application of the law. Andrews did not need to prove the Ebbelers' breach to be determined to be the prevailing party. He need only defeat the Ebbelers' claims to prevail, as is discussed at the end of this Petition.

On the first point, the Estate performed as required by the contract. It is undisputed that Mr. Andrews signed all of his closing documents and the deed on the Closing Date. CP 2280-82 (FF 78-81). He arrived at the offices of the parties' common closing agent, WFG Title, at 2:17 p.m. on the May 29, 2019 Closing Date, ready, willing and able to execute all of his documents and deed. *Id.* WFG Title was open for business when he arrived, even though it delayed signing because it had

prepared the wrong deed form. The REPSA is clear that any performance rendered under the agreement must be by 9:00 p.m. on the date the performance is to be rendered. If the Ebbelers had wanted to change the order or time of performance, they should have negotiated that term in the contract. They cannot expect this court to re-write it for them. Both the trial and appellate courts declined the invitation to impose a new order of performance or artificial intra-day deadline not expressed in the contract. This Court should as well.

At the same time, the Ebbelers completely ignore their own obligations. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, the Ebbelers signed a Closing Agreement on May 25, 2019 with the following language:

Before the closing date, each party shall deposit with the closing agent all funds required to be paid by such party to close the transaction.

(boldface added). CP 2281 (FF 85); Ex. 125 at 4; Resp. Br. at 43-44. The Closing Agreement also provided that it

supplemented the parties' contract.⁶ This provision was undoubtedly for the convenience of the closing agent and was intended to avoid the very problem the Ebbelers found themselves in – trying to resolve last minute loan documentation errors. The Ebbelers never deposited the full purchase price, before, during or after closing. CP 2282 (FF 90).

The Ebbelers failed to prove that they could have funded the purchase on the Closing Date. This was also fatal to their case. "If the contract requires performance by both parties, the party claiming nonperformance of the other must establish as a matter of fact the party's own performance." *Wallace Real Estate Inv., Inc. v. Groves*, 124 Wn.2d 881, 897, 881 P.2d 1010 (1994) (emphasis added). They could not declare Andrews in breach because they never performed.

⁶ Despite the Ebbelers' attempt to use Mr. Andrews' closing instructions against him, he did not see or sign these instructions in WFG's office until after 2:00 p.m., when the Ebbelers say it was already too late for their lender to fund.

C. Andrews Had No Obligation to Affirmatively Assist the Ebbelers.

The second argument tendered by the Ebbelers is that

Andrews "thwarted the Ebbelers' performance . . . by making
their final steps to obtain the loan proceeds from WaFd
impossible." Petition, at 18. The Ebbelers undoubtedly
recognize that they had no claim for breach if they did not
perform. But rather than establish their own performance as is
required by law, they try to shift the blame for their inability to
fund the purchase on the Closing Date on to Andrews. The
Court of Appeals correctly and consistently applied Washington
law. The Ebbelers' dissatisfaction with Division I's
conclusions does not warrant this Court's review.

The Ebbelers' "thwarting" argument is unavailing for several reasons. *First*, the facts establish that the Ebbelers simply failed on their own to have their financing documents correctly completed and in place as of the Closing Date. *Second*, the Ebbelers' reliance on financing was to their prejudice. The Ebbelers' financing contingency had been

cash on or before May 29, 2019 notwithstanding any financing. *Third*, it was not Mr. Andrews' job to help the Ebbelers close their loan. *Fourth*, the essence of the Ebbelers' argument is that Andrews was obligated under the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing to help the Ebbelers' lender by altering the time and order of performance and releasing a deed before the purchase funds were paid. But the law on the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing in Washington has never gone so far as to require a party to affirmatively assist another party in the performance of the other party's duty (and this would not have helped the Ebbelers, who failed to perform).

Jonathan Ebbeler refuses to take responsibility for his own last-minute funding flurry. Mr. Ebbeler could have taken action to sign his loan documents earlier but failed to do so. He could have made arrangements to have the purchase price paid in cash (as he claimed he could do.) He failed to take any

precautions in the event there was a last-minute problem Washington State and he was in New York.

As mentioned above, "[i]f the contract requires

performance by both parties, the party claiming

nonperformance of the other *must establish as a matter of fact the party's own performance*." *Wallace Real Estate Inv., Inc. v. Groves*, 124 Wn.2d 881, 897, 881 P.2d 1010 (1994) (emphasis added) ("the payment of the purchase price and the delivering of the deed are concurrent acts").

The Ebbelers failed to show "as a matter of fact" their own performance in funding the purchase. CP 2282 (FF 90). Their own actions hindered performance. CP 2281 (FF 86). It is undisputed that WaFd was not satisfied by the Ebbelers' 2:00 p.m. wire transfer deadline that all conditions and loan documents had been properly executed and that WaFd would fund on the Closing Date. *See* CP 2273 (FF 34, 36, 42-44, 48). The Ebbelers' own errors in the loan documents and their approval of an incorrect deed prevented their loan funds from

being deposited in escrow by the alleged deadline to fund. *See* CP 2274 (FF 42, 43, 44, 48). In unchallenged finding nos. 29 and 48, the trial court found clear admissions by the Ebbelers' own loan broker just before 2 p.m. that the deal would not close as a result. The Ebbelers' failure to ensure a complete and correct loan closing signing prevented closing. CP 2274 (FF 42, 43, 44). None of that was Mr. Andrews' fault.

The parties' inconsistent directions regarding the proper form of deed also prevented closing. That was not Andrews' fault. In fact, he held the Ebbelers and WFG to the contract term that called for a "personal representative's deed," not a statutory warranty deed.

More fundamentally, the Ebbelers agreed to waive contingencies and forfeit the Earnest money after 30 days from mutual acceptance and delivery of the REPSA. CP 2270 (FF 15). Absent any contract obligations to the contrary, a seller does not have any duties to help the buyer obtain or close a loan. Under the REPSA in this case it was the buyer's

obligation to pay the sale price at closing. Ex. 202 at 1,4. This they failed to do.

On May 1, 2019, Mr. Andrews' attorney had offered to give the Ebbelers a three-day extension on the contingency waiver period but reminded them they were expected to deposit \$2.3 million on the May 29, 2019 Closing Date. CP 2271 (FF 18). The Ebbelers chose to proceed, and they chose to waive all contingencies – including the financing contingencies – on May 3, 2019. *Id.* (FF 19).

There are no obligations in the contract that require the Estate to help the Ebbelers apply for, obtain or close on financing.

The Ebbelers' argument regarding the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is largely a red herring. The argument is directly inconsistent with the Ebbelers' admission that the parties' duties were concurrent. The Ebbelers argue that Mr. Andrews breached his duty of good faith and fair dealing when he did not consent to change the order of performance,

sign his deed first before the Ebbelers deposited their purchase funds, and then deliver the deed to escrow to be sent to the lender. The parties' contract did not require that, and it flies in the face of the concurrent duties rule.

Nevertheless, Andrews addresses that argument on its merits. Washington courts have never expanded the duty of good faith to encompass unwritten, non-contractual, failures to act. For example, it has been held that when a party actively and intentionally prevents a sale from moving forward through an overt action like misrepresenting facts to an owner's association board and voting against a new purchaser, the party violates the duty of good faith. Cavell v. Hughes, 29 Wn. App. 536, 539-40, 629 P.2d 927 (1981). In other cases, such as in Allied Sheet Metal Fabricators, Inc. v. Peoples Nat. Bank of Washington, 10 Wn. App. 530, 518 P.2d 734, 737 (1974), courts have declined to extend the duty of good faith and fair dealing so far as to impose a new duty on a party. See also, Betchard-Clayton, Inc. v. King, 41 Wn. App. 887, 707 P.2d 1361, 1363-64

(1985) (duty of good faith and fair dealing does not extend so far as to require the buyer to accept a new term). There is no duty to cooperate in efforts to restructure an agreement.

Badgett v. Sec. State Bank, 116 Wn.2d 563, 574, 807 P.2d 356 (1991). Any such duty would have either been a material change or injected substantive changes to their agreement. This is permissible "only in connection with terms agreed to by the parties." No party is required to accept "any material change."

Estate of Carter v. Carden, 11 Wn. App. 2d 573, 581 455 P.3d 197 (2019).

While a contracting party may not *hinder* the other contracting party's performance, there is correspondingly "*no duty on either party to affirmatively assist in the other party's performance*." *State v. Trask*, 91 Wn. App. 253, 273, 957 P.2d 781 (1991). Defendant's expert Scott Osborne provided a useful illustration of the distinction between these two concepts in this case.

Mr. Osborne gave this example: Assume Andrews and Ebbeler were neighbors. If Ebbeler had walked over to Andrews' house and said "can you give me a ride to the closing?" and Andrews declined, there is no breach. However, if Andrews had gone over to Ebbeler's house the night before closing and slashed his tires, that clearly would be a breach. RP 711-12. In Mr. Osborne's example, the former involves providing assistance to the counterparty; while the latter is an example of bad faith in the exercise of one's obligations.

Here, Andrews was entitled to stand on his rights to require performance of the REPSA according to its terms.

Badgett, 116 Wn.2d at 570; *see also 134th St. Lofts, LLC v.*

iCap Nw. Opportunity Fund, LLC, 15 Wn. App. 2d 549, 564, 479 P.3d 367 (2020) (no breach of the duty of good faith when a party simply stands on its rights to require performance of a contract according to its terms.)

D. Re-Writing the Contract to Re-Order Performance or Impose an Artificial, Early-inthe-Day Deadline Would be Bad Policy.

The outcome urged by the Ebbelers would create bad policy. The Ebbelers contend that Andrews breached the contract by 11:00 a.m. or 2:00 p.m. on May 29, 2019 because he didn't come in to sign when *they say* he should have signed. If that were the rule, what would prevent an unscrupulous buyer from announcing an arbitrarily early time by which a seller must sign and then declaring a breach when the unsuspecting seller is unable to meet the buyer's new demand?

Parties to a contract rely on the contract language. The Ebbelers suggest that Mr. Andrews was subject to the whims and dictates of a buyer, its closing agent and even its lender.

That is not supported by the contract, and sellers may have little advance warning when they will be declared in default. Current Washington law is the better policy.

E. Andrews is the Prevailing Party Whether He Performed or Not Because the Ebbelers Could Not Prevail on Their Claims.

Andrews is also the prevailing party under the REPSA.

RCW 4.84.330. "Prevailing party" means the party in whose favor final judgment is rendered. *Crest, Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Wn. App. 760, 772, 115 P.3d 349 (2005);

14A Tegland, *Wash. Prac., Judgments, Costs & Attorney Fees*§ 36.3 (2d ed. 2017). A prevailing party need not succeed on its entire claim; the party need only *substantially* prevail. *Crest*,

128 Wn. App. 760.

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